BOURBON FURNACE

This 0ld stack is one of Kentucky's mo‘st interesting relics and I congratulate

the citizens of Bath couniy- fentucktans on the marking of 1it, It

preserved at all hazards.

Looking back ovér the century and a half that has phssed, we are reminded that

our Kentucky was the |only uninhabited land lying adjacenft to the thirteem original

colonies, No other land in hist was 8d quickly settled, Whole communities and
churches came, Forts were built [for protj'ction and families gathered about their

back Ea transport the necessities

heart_hstone 8, Leav

of life they set to york to substitute the fhings at hanfi for comforts they had
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left behind, -
Salt and iron commodities that were apparently lacking,in the Wilderss
-1

ness." The pioneers found

a
900 gallons of salt pater to| make p bushel of salt required salt kettles and bringing

ten gallon salt kettles fr { the sbttlements was a well-nigh impossible task, Here 3

on this spot iron wap found and the necessary cast ketiles were cast in 1792 just

as Kentucky became al state,

The farmers needed plows, tools, lanternms, The housewives needed betty-lamps,
candle-sticks and snuffers, cranes for their open: fireplaces, supplied with pots,

pothooks, trivet ovens, and kettles and long handled waffle irons, The cobblers
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needed tools for their benches; apothecaries needed finely adjusted scales,
liortars and pestles; barbers needed razors, lnters needed knives, At this fur-
nace these articles were produced and .the Iron Works Road was laid out to trans-

port them to such distribut d Lexington, From this

furnace came the too ' s and in Kentucky homes

Kentucky famous, of the early wooden pins

cut by hand, and nails were literally worth their weight in gold. They also re=

quired iron latches,|locks, hinges and bolts ~ instead the latchestring and

wooden bar; as wéll/brnamental Franklin stoves and other| niceties of life, all of

which were cast in this furnace,
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Work horses had to be shod,| so did oxen whose tiny little feet seemed far too -

smpll to carry their

of the pioneer Kentuj

the English sporting blood %

bulky bodies, In addition to them,
o)
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bikians, which manifested itself inm

necessitated the finest plates for dainty

smith and wheelwrigh
operating the huge *
man's four-footed fri

When candle-li

So while the blacke

Q
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at the forge, the farrier stood beside the anvil
led the bellows, while making shoes for

ith made his guns,

..... n wrought the adjuatable

saterial is the property of The Fils¥n

frames for spectaclef

wnents, Other gkilléd—e

s

ipllars a palr in the settlew

This

"gzoose" and Wshears® which

he took with him when he visited a home, slept in the third best feather bed and

made the winter cléthing for the household,

A mill-gite was

invariably noted by the prospector and mill machinery had to

be added to the output of the furnace, To the mills came settlers for: miles around



to grind their corn, and this use provided many roads so that many mill sites

ultimately resulted in the location of Kentucky tomms,

On this spot John Cockey Owings and his son, Colonel Thomas Dye Owings,

L

not only built the stack, but _a fort to builders from the Indians,

of vision providing joneer \Eentuckians, When the

Packenham,

I have a cannon ball sbout the sisme of le given me years ago, and I have

e. They should be collecte

seen useful and arti

as far asspossible preserved in a museum beside this|stack as tangible proof of

Kentucky's inititati

; illustration of the
sikilled craftsmanship of our forepearers,

(FIVE MINUTE ALK GIVEN BY MRS, W, T. LAFFERTY AT OWENSYILLE, KENTUOKY, ON THE
0CCASION OF THE UNYEILING OF THE MARKER ERECTED CN THE(STACK OF THE BOURBON

FURNACE BY THE MOS

OF - THET TAUGHTERSOF THE AMERICAN REVOLUTION)

1t permission
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" The Red River Iron Regiom.  _
Qv\m\'ﬁ Weloh 164 “"/M/

Wegtern Asia, the birthplace of the human rzee, began at such an onrly"
date to smelt iron that its history is loet in obscurity. Iron was used
a8 early as three thousand years ago in Hurope and at a wmuch earlier date
by the Egyptians, and by
s same time by their

in Asia Minorx, Iron was used s

contemporaries the Chpldeans, Ba) ang -and Assyriane, The Book of Jgb
' § of iron", When Moses

David made preparations for the building o0fthe témple he prepared iron
in abundance; when Sol}oman
cunning in the work of iron. The knowledge of iron gntered China at some

m he sent for men

unknown date. It was & heople of the then

kpown world five hundred yeqres yrior to| the birth of Chriet. In Engliend
the strong and enerpg

became known a8 Britians learned to mine and manufa

useful metal known to
invaded Britain, fifty five years B.0. In Anglo-Saxon times the

the highest rank, William the
for bhis conquest of i&m England;

man. Such were the people met|by Caesar wien he

Iron-smith was treater
Qonqueror was much

his soldiers being bejter gse of the Britains.

The oldest specimines|of iron are in the British lupeum; one of which

This p:aterial is the property of The Filson Historical Society and caract be reproduced without permission

was taken from the pyfamid of Gizeh and is thought Fo Dbe about 4000
years old, i

North Carolina was the first state in this country to glve the Europeans
the knowledge that iron ore existed in the New World, When Ralph Lane
commanded an expedition to North Carolina in 1585, ﬁia men explored the
country along the Roanocke and Elizabeth Rivers where they discovered

iron ore but ﬁo effort had been made to use it when they quarreled with //



the Indians 1a 1£36 end returned to Bagland, Neill's History of the London
Company says that on April 10, 1808 the Gompan;'s ghip from Jamestown loaded
with iron ore, sasgafras, cedar posts and walnut boards. In 1610 the Virginia
Company sent to Virginia a number of persong who were skilled in the
manufacture of iron, "to set up three iron works" in the colony. They wers

not succeesful and Massachugeits has notion of operating the first

successful iron works | Retern States made iron
about the same time, f ' g wexy active in the state of

New Jersey piior to 3 1684 there were iron works
in Pennsylvania, but {he business wasy - and logal and did not amount
to much until 1716, but\after this } afidly and Penngylvania
goon became known as the most advanced in'4h® manufacture of iron of all

the American coloniesyHeny—furnzoes - ——— laryland and in the

ginia 1nL%406—bu¢~ 4 not adwitted to the
gtates of the Unlon until six ydars aftpr its orginisation as a territory.f
Up to 1775 land in the | Kentucky had been
surveyed for veterans|of the French and Indian Wars| and the grents from

1782 to 1792 were for|military services in the Frenph and Indian Wars.
After that the grants were Revolutionary Virginia Granis.

Kentuoky was separated

was "God of Virginia'|and gteatly Intexmested in Kentucky lands warrants

gould be obtained for|a merg pit and warrents called "Treasury

Warrents" had been ispued t¢ the |extent of many millions of aores. Virgini

took her paper money phich had been issued during the Revolutionary wa¥
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in payment for lands in Kentucky, The speculators using soldier's soript

were the prinoipal benefactore and it is believed that the State of
Kentuoky was covered three times over by differnet emtries whioh involved

the people in tedious and expensive law suits for many years.



The most venturesome of all nations is the heritage of the Aumerican people,
and certainly no state in the Union wes more }artunate in her ocoupancy

than the Stzte of Kentuoky. Not adl of her early settlers came as bomesteader)
for her vast unknown resources and timbered lands appealed %o business men
who Baw & future in the manufacture of iren., The Lentuckisns had an

excellent training in the meking of iron, coming as they did from

people were the firg ' d even the third generations of the mo
called Seotchtrigh| who Prilace § and eventually fthey o

$0 lMaryland and the ' Kentuoky in the great S

vithout p@nssion
@

western move of population after )@ Reyolution, /This self-reliant oontiq?ont

of people had carried 7 @ Ohio River within the 1§;0
j= ¥

time of the immigrant ancestor, and they were lupatlent %o conquer st111 3

another wilderness gnd start & normal way of life} There was no other

necessity than iron{quite so necessary, with the gxception of =alt, to ¢

early settler , and knowing h diffiFult 1% would be to bring iron over:
the mountains or down the tregpgherous; Ohio Hiver on scoount of its burdquome

oc1ety ﬁj caractb

welght 1t would not|be hard %o believe that some pf the first setilers hﬁ?

made iron in a crude way for their own personal upe, but there had been

no attempt to swelt iron in a commercial way until 1791. In Octower of

1782 Jagob Mkeyers, {rom arylend petented 5,434 aores of land 2

Kenftucky., In 1790 Jacob jieyers (above)

B, R CE—

on 8late Oreek in Bjurbo

P

the boomer, the conjractol and puildegr of the Bourboun Furnace had

ial is the property of The Filson

selected the furnacg site on Slate Creek,z Oranch|of the blaking Hiver, %@out

(pntucky, snd in 1791

This

two miles southwest|of what is now Owingsville,

this furnace was in operation, in Sourboun 9bunty~1n the territory of
Kentucky, but the following year when Ulark Oounty was organized this
furnace ‘roperty was made part of %km Clark County but it did not remain

long in Clark county for when lontgomery county was organized . in 1796

7

TPRG

it became a part of thar county and when Bath county was curved out of

Hontgomery county January 15, 1811 it became then and has*iemainéd ever
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ginoe a part of ﬁamh gounty. In 1791 a n&rtnership had been formed hatween
Joln Cookey Owingk Christopher Greenup, Walter Beall, Willis Green and
Jacob leyers,
The pioneers had complained because the rook bottomed oreek beds damaged
the feet of thelr horses and oxen and because they needed vplows, tools,

weapons, fireplace supplies and many’other things %o whisch they had been

only the firast furnace west ) 8 the firet of the

industries to ¢ross thy Alleghenies, ¥rs, Lafferty on the

occassion of the unvelili tack of the Bourbon or

t be reproduced without p:cﬁussion

Slate Furnace by the l,ses Sharp Uhapter of the Daughters of the “merican

30

Rgvolution that ‘a 1lisf§ of its owners and operators yould read like a list o
"Wno's Who in the Xenfjuoky I,dustry”. The capital % operated this furnage ¢

came largely through J,hn Cockey|“wings|of Baltimore, Maryland whko was

elected president of the firm, apd who 8 the only member of the firm who '

orical Society and ca

H

never lived in the Stdte of Kentucky., He was a wealfhy man, a son of J,s

and Mary Cockey Owingd of Baltimore,"aryland, and hq had large land

holdings in &entuoky, part of which were used by the iron works as & soure

of raw material, Hia ; ky were managed by hie son Thomas

Christopher CGreenup wgs born in where he later served

This ruaterial is the property of The Filson

in the Hevolutionary war. On Margh 4, 1783 he was sworn in as an attorney
at law for the distric Jory —1785 he was appointed
the olerk of that court, From 1792 tc 1757 he was a member of Congress,
and after that he wae a clerk of the senate of Kentucky. From 1804 %o 1808

he was governor of the State of Kentuoky. Afterwards he was elected to the
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legislature of Fpenklin county. In 1812 he acted as = justice of the peage
for the same county, He served for many years as a direotor in the old
bank of Kentuoky. He died April 27, 1818.

Colonsl CGeorge Hicholas was born about 1743 in Williamsburg, Virginia where
his father Robert C,rter Nicholas wase = distingusihed lawyer, a umeuber of

the house of burgesses, a member of, the colonial council and tressurer of

the colonly of Virginia olas was acaptain in the war of the

Revolution in the Ving ate/line, and after {he war, practiced law o
in Albermarle County, Vir ne leglislature from é
that county. In 1786 er county in the %
territory of Kentuck) gr df the conyention which framed theg
first constitution of & : al great dtatesman and & great %
lawyer, While he wee interested in the Dourboun furnace he made that ?
vecinity his home folr several years; afterwards moving %o Lexington wheraé

and car:

he precticed law., In 1799 a law department was added to Transylvania

University and “olonel ljchola$ was mjﬂe the first professor, but he died?

shortly thereaftex. In 1799 Cojonel Nycholas had married uary Suith, of

cal So

Bl

Baltimore, Maryland,[ His youngest da ' Judge Righard lawes o0&

stoi

1

Bourboun county,Xenthoky,
uthor of the % utions of 1798/ He

John Buchsnen wag th

was a United States in 1801 and Attorney General of the Upited

gtates in 1805,
b, g was an elector of the senate

Walter Beall was a well kn

from " elson county in 1792 pdtution, May 1783 he hadd

been a olerk in Lindoln, county.

This mate& 11s the property of The Filson H

One of the first ohriet adzed on Kentucky soil

was between Willis Green and Sarah Reed, near Danville, Kentuoky, Willis
Green was born and reared in the Shenandoah Valley of Virginla, He came

to Kentuoky as a surveyor, to locate land warrents for various persone, He
H

represented the county of Kentucky in the Virginia Legislature. "o was

clerk of court for a long term of years.
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These men, the owners of the Bourboun furnace were of Scotcn end English

desoent with one exeentlion a german 2riisan, These men of educetion and
refinement had come together to create an enterprise which was the firast
of whet was o develope into a big and important business in the state of
Kentucky, .

Required at all times ¢ was in oporatioﬁ were
re fillers, a potter,
e wap built of large bloeks

erior/was lined with fine

two !otndorn. two kee

an ore roaater and e

permission

of limegtone found 1
grained fire resisti a space was left to
filled with clay to prot

furnace consisted chiefly of hearth, -task and bellows , and castings wer

duc@g-\ 1thout

m the intense heat. The

€ repIo

done directly from thp smelting furnaece but later g forge was built where

and caractb

pigs, from the rock ofres, were reheated and hanmergd into ‘wrought ironm, To

start the furnsce the men first|filled [the inside of tha stack with chare
the charooal hud burned for several

ical S-ogety

which wag lighted from the top, |After

(L 1
days and the fire burned down the furnace was again refilled with
charcoal. As the {
wagon road so thet mercbandize might be hauled by teams of horses or oXenz

Prior to this tima th

oe business grew the tizst gfiep was to build a

en entirely a looal one for there

¢ property of The Filson Histor

was no weans of tran it to other settlements. The Oyio

furnasoce sbout 1788, a Tew
gtream where until 1818 they converted pig iron into bar iron by forging.
Parie in 1790 was a community of 838 people, Winchester in 1810 had a
population of 538 and Lexington in 1810 had & population of 4,328,

The pioneers found many salt springs and it took 900 gallons of salt water
to make a bushel of salt. So many ten gallon kettles were maee at the



furnace that 1{ was often referred to as "falts”.
S8ince the ore wes on the surface or Just below the surfsce no tecnnical
knowledge of mining was necessary and the wen with ploke and crow-bars would
dig the ore out of the earth then shovel 1t on to = wagon or sled and use a
team of horses or oxen to take the ore %o the furnace., This ore was found
mixed with rock, clay and eax ‘_ TEE ¥ the masses heayy with iron

1§
a8 a very familiar process, E

cords they were stackéﬁ

in oonical shaped looking wigwams in a/dry Gircular it by stqnding each é
| Rave the inpermost| circle Open %o form a chimney, éf

Damp earth or leaves were packed around and over the ogtaide of the giang 'g
wigwam and holes were 0 draw a)lr. The inside wastums g
then filled with dried|leaves and bits of dried stiocks and lighted from 2
the top. o flame was men watched Jday and %

to deyes ' lay ¢
or ¢lgy to pateh over any place where

me. It ok wix or seven days,

night always ready with wet leav
there was the possibili

or sometimes less, dep nding on the ability of the m y %o char one of these

leted and cold ; d to the

When the charcoal was utone ahazoo

!

very quickly ceame into E—;ato = d whede the iron master and his workers

house near the furnace. It was near the furnace where a thriving oommunity E{

lived.The mangger was a very jmporf§ant man and his "wmansion house" was bulltg
at the expense of the f#rm.

forge, blackemith shop, | store, inn,

This rat

The chareocal house was O TIEUSES1ty Duilt of stone like that in the furnage
itself, The only Gompany owned buildings not in the furnace setllement prover
were the ocharcoal burners huts whioh were in the woods nesr their work, The
men worked hard and were a big influence in laying & commonweslth west af

the Alloghenies, All the materialsnecoasnry to the manufacture of iron were

f"mw -3y L .:/f{!"zt[’ ’A
éﬁ‘ddtk.i\ L(_(__bﬁ ‘k{(_‘;} Lﬂ—w‘f {;( g'r( } Lo Y m‘?_[‘(‘

- .

ey TPAPH0

N 11mn  Historical Seci
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ildings were the furnaqa,
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found in abunqamce in this destrict; outecropplng ironore, extensive
.ests to prcviﬁe.material for fuel, beds of x&: limestone and the streams
and oreeks to furnish the necessary water power, A few highly skilled german
iron men came from Fennsylvania. Labor was supplied by the early piloneers
themselves, altiough o part of the work was performed by negro slaves,

The Slete oreek furnished the water sower necessary to drive the ,machinery

a8 well as the bellows wiiGh fyrniskéd the blast for furnace and forge.,
I i27 jmportant men\in any commnity. He
did not limit himself [to refal horbes and oxen but made
tools and many other yseful really in a small way a
manufacturer,
The Kentuokians looked on &LE hirsty savages and the
Indiens thought of the Kentuckians as BX land thirsty, restless white men,

It was found necess to guard the workers at the nage, the ocharcoal

burners, the woodsmen,! the moﬂébauling ore as they went back and forth from

1 Society mj caract be reproduced without permission

a

furnace to forest . Oollins says|that tHere wae a blockhouse, in 1786, on
the old 8late ore bank where Jaocpb Meyexs afterwards® built the furnace, On

i
£

February 36, 1791 it was ordered that the iron workd post be immedistely 2
ocoupied by the guards, for the defense of the district and there are othcﬁg
instances on the government recorde whsrc militiamen were ordered out to %
the iron works to ﬁuo ders. The furnasoe people. had so %
often to retreat into ouse in time of Indian troubles that the g
ore of this furnace bepame khown gs "blgoek house ore”, ? | g
/¢¢~£ - =
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ESTILL COUNTY

Bstill County was formed from perts of Clark and Montgomery County

in 1808 beilng the 50th county crested in Lentucky in the 15th year of

wltory hes been taken since

her statehood.
to help form Bre=th Powell in 1852 and 1889
Jackson in 1858 =

@st111l Countt lies| Tesf of cenffral Ke tucky|on both sides of the

Kentucky River whigh dreins its e

#ith the Kentucky River constituting 1Ts boundry on Clark GCounty.

Lying in the [foot hills of the Cumberland ﬁountains most of the

surface is hilly With fertile veslleys, especielly along the Kentucky

River where some of the bec<¥ river POCLOM 1ETHID ATe found, but the hill

have besn the real source of weslth! rich in iron and crude oil =8 Nel

as timoer. The tim ree—it g fir3l to be tolken and floated down the

Historical %metﬁ;mi caract be reproduced without permission

river to mills at|Ford and Frankfort =nd some tp local sew mills.

IRON, Force and R&FHns-M¥ild—-

The férgéigbtaﬁ.hnsiness men +ho ceme into Kentucky from Pennsyl-

tel sfietes |book |

property of The Filson

and some ye~rs before the state wes

2]

venia and the cos

admitted to thie Uhlon in 1794. Th sere sewore of the valuable re-

i§dis the
[

gsources the hills| possedsed—dn tim als., They knew the nee:

of the people for| building moterisl, timber, naflls, iron for shop workg

fots, kettle:, and many

This rateri

in wezon bullding

“‘:

sther es-entisls needful in converting = wilderness 1nto & liveoable

country. The 1ack of roads prevented zoods being hsuled in from -set-

tlements Best of the mountain ranze. To meet these nee@s three or four

of the larze land holders proceszded to build a smsll chercoal blast

/Q&7L /
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furnace on Red River in the northwest corner of Estill County. At this
point the river makes a bend of some five miles around and one mile
across the heel of the horse shoe. The plan was to use water power to

operate the machinery in the propvsed grist mill, saw mill, blast fur-

nace and rollinz mil eet hizgh of logs and rock

A dpm waé'built elght

mill rece. This was am g wheel twelve feet by six

with sufficent enerzy, say fifty horse power, to serve thelr purpose.

The furnsce for smglting wes discontinued and tofn down about 1831.

There i1s no known History of its dimentions, but|on doubt it wes some

eizhteen feet hizh of ssnd stpne and|lined with fire clay with a cap-

acity of one ton per day. i

The greatest Jemand was for kettles to be uped f6r making salt,

sugar from cane, apd suger maple. These they molded and traded to set-

tlers s well s two to ten z=llon sizes for cooking snd wssh day use.

The ore had to be jauled [from 1 tops East of the plant four hun-

s:tion ¢bove there loc-tion, &s ore is not

¥

dred to five hundr¢d feelf elev

found below the lime formetionf There river locstion was imperative

ant-en-enper®s sim¢e the weter power'was the guifiing factor in locat-

This material is the property of The Filson Historical Society and caract be reproduced without permission

ing the site. LimT wss another necessary item te be hauled simce some

five hundred pounds of good white lime was needed with e-ch three tons
of ore and two ﬁushels of charcoal as fuel to make one ton of iron.
Blast wes pumped in about two feet from the bottom of the hearth at
about six to eight pounds‘pressure from a blast cylender much &s & black

-smith uses Seemhis hand epessbed bellows., As the fuel wes consumed
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more charcoal X8 fed in from the top, c=lled the man-head, with a char-
ge of ore and lime. After some twelve hours of continuous operation
the 1ronxis ready to be drawn and cast into molds or shapes formed in

send from patterns, or into ingots or oblongs. These are sultable for

going through rolls bars op/ﬁlates from "™ich nails (can be cut of

four different siz¢s, ght, ten and twenty\ pennies. They were puts

The plant, including the dem, mill race, furnsce, gristmill and saw

mill were built in| 1804 or 1805, Collins Historfy of Kentucky says it

wes supposed to heye been built about 1810, but [n looking over the

acts of the 1805 Lesislation |we discpvered an =ct forbidinzg the build-

ing of stone fish traps in Rgd Riveribetween the iron works on the riv-

er and the mouth. |The furnace ahd forze plant wgks ten miles from the

confluence with th¢ Kentucky River se much of thf iron products were

shépped in small barzes, bullt on the spot, to séttlements beloy}Franﬂ—

ford and maybe to joulsvifile, ~A-market was found in these small set-

n. LA LD
tlements, eSpecial%y%ﬂails and| wazon| witewts., Some of the products were

hauled by ox and m%le team ovep poorjroads to Lexington, Harrodsburgz

and other settlemejts in the Blue Gress section.| Many houses built

within fifty to onq-hundred miles of the plant, grior to 18¢0, and stil

in use, used mails manufactured =t this plent which opersted as late as
1865,
The town of Clay City was bullt in 1890 on the farm surrondingz the

forge and iron works. There is stidl to be seen on 1ts orizinal loca-

tion the solid iron amvil,weighing about two tons, on which the power

il

=
]

13
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driven triphammer shaped the iron sfter the rolling and mallesble pro-
cessing. The old mill race 1s well over-grown sith vegatation and the
banks are lined with sweet gum and sycomore, as large as thirty-six to

forty inches in diameter. As late =8 1874 quite # few boxes of cut

nails remained in th Hou;é“ and in useale condition. The large

ten room house,bul¥t for thé : g ,8till stands, and is

<t Fitchburz. The\plant € § to 18J0 by Jackson “heller
& Co. and others indberested in th¢ business werf Peter Mason, Thomas D.
Owens and John C. Mason. 13 un #s & partnership, but

was refered to #8 the Forze and often zs the Red River Iron Yorks.

Later incorporated |oy the Tmengly Eastern capitﬁi sts, who under the

menagement of Franlfy Fitch took over the Iron "or§s on Red River, The
I
3

A acres of land attsched to

Estill Furnsce and some twenty-~five

the two properties.

IRON INDUSTRY

Estill Countigs resourses were early in devqlopment. Four plants

for the manfscture of iron being the countles contribution to the needs

of the strste and thie furanhing—af—wqu for men and thelr teams,
The Forze end [Rolling mil], for |reducing hemalite ore to plz iron,

was built sbout 1805, thep in (lsrk Qounty, lster Estill County, now

Bowell County. Estjill Furnece wss bullt 1n 1830 |on the mountain, ften

miles from Irvine, py the then owners of Forze anld Rollinz Mill on Red

River. Cottaze Purnszce was bullt in 1854 by Vason and "heeler who op-
erated it some four or five yesrs asnd thren so0ld in 1862 to Pierce
@inter »nd Vaughn (Vaughn of Hardwick Creek). The firm opersted less

than two years and in 1871 it psssed to » firm organizes by John O.

This material is the property of The Filson Historical Society and carnct be reproduced without permission

Miller. The names of Baum, Gardner and Roberts appe-ring as part owners.
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From them 1% passed to D, B, HeXinney & Dro. 7his property = ¢ never
sonnected with the holdinge of the Wed Wiver or Kentucky River Iron
gapufscturing 0o, These two furn=ces were bullt on the Kenbuohy River

aslone of the dividing ridse betwefn the Hed and *entuchky Xlver wober

sheds. This pridge i 1 he a ﬁignatad Alviding line oot een Fatill
and Powell Countlied,

Fitehbury's Qcka, were puilt in 1869 by the
Rea Hiver Iron ¥fgi Co. nf sbout twenty-five

tons per dsy., Both\furnsces went Antolblast in 1870 anad not béing a

prineipal stoekholders dlsposed of part of tne property in 1889 and in

1003 the balanoe ix the three snd four mile clrcle surrounding Fstill

Purpsce snd the Popge. Later it wes sll sold off Jn percels to locel

paople.
- The last blsst was made ht Keti]l in 1958 and the 1ron shipped

from Clsy 0ty on fhe Kentucky Union K. R., late]y bullt from Hedges

Stotion (0.2 0. Re|Re.)e ILater srude oil was disgovered ou parts of the

property, in the four mile oiroi; and some 250 wells were drilled with
sugoess snd prétit
BER ELVER IEON

A echarter by 4ot o s1slafion in 1865 nd by ot pesséd ia

1872 and approved %y Gov. Leslle, was smended grincing further =2nd ex-

1114 a rellroad from fichmond fo Irvine, thence to

This raterial is the property of The Filson Historical Society and caract be reproduced without permission

tended rizhts to
Seots Landing (mouth of ¥Willers CUreek), thence LO Resttyville snd grant-

ing the ocounty of Hstill right to subacribe for stock In the enterprise
to the extent of $150.000 subject to the spprovsl of the voters of “at1ll
Gounty. This elsctlon heving besn ardered by the Ustill County Court

on Feb, 20, 1872. For various ressons the plan to duild the rrilroad



wes not aorrlied oubk., It wes sboub twentr ysers laster thet & pailrosd
e oully from (ichmeond to TBe=ltyville by znother cooperation which is
now ovmed and opersted by the L * ¥ Haflroed., This covpany Improved
and extenden ths ratlroad to the fields in Letcher Tounty. Trey abende
ed the line from X iine fror Ivvine to
Winghesteor, thus nnntl some twenty milo
Tris deweloprnent r tne Iron production

in ®a5ill County |

fatill Furnéaﬁ, haretofore refercl 7rg/bmiilt Dy Jackson, Heson?
and Theeler in 18829 and ¢ st; blast the later part of |
1830, It was opers ve rs, then Fason and
Theeler disposed of their interests, IE wan tr aparstad for sixteen
to elrhtéesn years of Ia = anl ® o, st whiich time

Jogkson became the sole omner] of alllthe iron Interests 1n Estill Pure-

necs and the forze property Rad R#ver, tosether with 11 the land

Historical Society and caract be reproduced without penmsgon

owned by the bHullders within & four mile circle ¢f "=till "urncce and

sontinuing in & civels redeiting three miles frof the gcenter of the Coe=!

e
S

This ruaterialTs the propéﬁy of The Filson

unty Roed Bridze soross the mill rscs of the forsa on ed Wiver.

some 18000 sepes it the | sle and six or seven thousand aered

in the three mile gircle, ereasa hod been set sside for fur-

nece uss errliisr, |[Yhe thiree «hd fompe mile circle eseh within the ”ha-a

Franklin pstent of |asome one hundred ond ten thongans cras under an

early grent DY virTiuia and aigned by Oov., Prtrigk tenry. Parts of theZ

agraaze inside the area of ench eircle had béen scld of© to settlers

safore the iron business wos ntarted; hence the lesser rere o owmed Uy

o
< e

T T
L 20 L

the furnces company was thon the content of the two ¢l

e larze screaze so set aside wss for timder to mrke choreoal s
81

the hill tops sbove the 1lime strete contsined the red hematite ore
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which yields sbout 33% iron. These ore veins ren from thirty to forty
inches thick and ususlly nesr the surfece.

Estill Furna?e hed a eapacity of seven tons per day of twenty-four

iy [

hours to producéfsbme twenty-one tons of ore snd fourteen hundred bush-

shels each) and sbout

A R
2

ﬁecessary to flux the

els of charcoal (seve
COLll LY pp b ot alv,

furnace and run off the T e ross, ealled cinder
by the furnace workers., ¥ #=s dymped ijnto the trundlehead of

f ch=rcoal to four hun

| : LR
These chargses of stock e put in as the furnace 1 tske it.

The two old fqchioned cylender bolilers s2t of top of the stack with

front ends over th4 trundlenead #nd extending bag¢k there length of some -

twenty~five feet to & smoke sfzck fopty feet high. This smoke stack

al Society an-d caract be roproduced Yithout permission

created a draft to pull the spses frém the trundelhesd back thirough the

~
il

fire box which gendrsted steam for the eighty hof}sepower engine. The

purpose of the ensine was to creste blast to int¢nsity the furnace heat

The blest wss forced into the furncce by 8 blest cylender setting uprig

ﬁ Filsbn Histori

with the pbstion cf with 2 overhesd walking beam to which the

engine was connect opposite| end. This forced the blast throug

teen fpet, through e six inch pipe into

the furnsce sbout {ive or Tour feet I¥om the potpom of the furnace

went into the furnsce with a|pressure of some five

This raterial is the pr?perty of T

hearth. This blss

e

to seven pounds, as WO : gu2ze, The he=srth of the
furnsce 1s of send stone and forms a basin circular in shespe three feet
in diamiter and three feet deep from the opening where the slag or cin-
der escapes es the smolten iron rises in the basin. The cinder being

of the desser gravity floats on top of the iron snd runs off to the cin-
-der
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beds 1s hardened and carried off to the dumps‘—%hch of 1t being used

for‘d%aking roads within s mile or less of the furnace. When the basin
s filled 1t W3- contaln about three and a half tons of iron. The
engine d&a then shut down,stOppin% the blast and the furnace keepenﬂtapi\

The actlve opera

man who must know the technique of successful operation of a furnsce

to get the capacity output of one ton &nd hold dpwn the fuel consump-

tion to the minimug. The furnace must, to <et the best results, be

kept 2t 8 consistent tempersthure neifher too hot or too cold. If she
becomes too hot a&nd the iron [will be White looking when broken, and

brittle not tough fnd durable snd will grade up $o0 as high ss mumber

six wherd4 number one and two 1s wanted. The prigcipal demand for pig

o 2.
iron in the seventlies wse for making car wheels and steel ralls to mgp
the demand of rallyfs ansion through out the country. 1In fact the
manfacture of roliing steel ra b just coming into its own in the

United Statess This inform: tipn comez from Mr. quincy Bent of the

Bethleham Steel Co4, that irst rédIIs useéd 11 this counbtry were

imported from Enzlgnd for trial in railroad tracifs of the Penn. R.R in

This riaterial is the property of The Filson Historical Society and caract be reproduced without permission

1862, One hundred Bt = cost of $150.00 per ton.

The rails weished from forty to sixty pounds per yard compored with our

standards today of one hundred to a hundred and fifty pounds.
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THE IRON INDUSTRY IN KENTUCKY

Previous to 1791 there had been no attempt to smelt iron on a

commercial basis in Kentucky.

Consequently, any machine part which was

needed on the rapidly growing frontier or, more generally, west of the

tains or, possibly, boated

tes. Thus may be seen

This need was first met by J&cob Meyers, who was a German im-

migrant. He

structioﬁ of 4n iron furnace on Slate Creek in Baph County.
was first cal
the only furnace west of

traced back i

welght in des

1790 and began the con-
This furnsasce

to Slate Purnace. It is

in an ore region of relatively great importance.

At

west. It is

aid because 1

Indians. For

of the Colon1[s to anjyone a

this perfiod, g{

reat en&curagement was given by the Government

btemptijg to develop the iron resources of the

ell thalt the |,

kovernm nt did give the builders of this furnace

| was carried out under great danger| of attack from the

this reason there was built a strong blockhouse of logs close

by the ore bank and furnace site, into which the workmen could retreat if

attack from the Indians was imminent.

consequently were often called "the blockhouse ores".

There are on the

government records instances recorded when the militiamen were ordered out

to Bath County to quell Indian disturbances which impeded the development

of the iron smelting enterprise there.

The first blast in this Furnace was‘made in the year 1792 and the

o

furnace continued in operation intermittently until 133%, when, due to

The ores of this particular vicinity

This material is the property of The Filson Historical Society and caract be reproduced without permission
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exhaustion of timber for charcoal, as well as for other reasons, the furnace
ceased operation. The furnace is still standing.
In connection with this enterprise, there was built in 1798

Slate Forge, & few m the same stream. The purpose

of this forge s to confert/pig iron to bar irox by forging. This forge

built on Lickjng Ri Slate| Creek in 1810 and continued

This

side much like a truncated pyramid. ts blast machinery was operated by

water power ofl Slate Ureek, which was of ten insuijiclent to keep the furnace

operating confjinuously. The furnace produced aboyt three tons of iron per

day while running.

ough| the iron[iTom § Turnace and its nearby forges
was widely used and well kjown, it had a bad reputation in that it had poor

strength and This w i to the high phosphorous
content of thel ore used.
In of the poor.gual ron, it had a wide market.

Most of it was shipped down the Licking River to Cincinnatl and Louisville,
after being hajuled ov?rland or seven miles. Also, the Iron Works Road,

which passes cllose to|Lexington, wap built in connection with this industry.

In fact, its 1hter oW o will| be mentioned in a subsequent paragraph,

maintained a sftore of iron at Lexington and adverflised their products for

sale. Many of| the early héating stoves, cooking ytensils, flat irons, etc.,

were cast at this furnace. In 1810 the owners of this furnace had contracts
with the United States Government for furnishing cannon balls, chain shot,
grape shot, etc., to the Navy. From this furnace also came many of the
cannon balls, chain shot and grape shot used by General Jackson in the
Battle of New Orleans.

The original owner of the furnace, Jacob Meyers, soon after be-

ginning operations, took into partnership several gentlemen, all of whom were

either prominent men in the history of this country or very outstanding men

8-

Also, the Maria Forge was

ction, looking from the out-

This material is the property of The Filsorn Historical Society and carnot be roproduced witho Permission
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otherwise. There was Christopher Greenup, a Virginia soldier who was elected
to Congress in 1792 and was Governor of Kentucky, 1804-1808. Also, Greenup
County was named for this man. George Nicholas was a great lawyer and states-

man. He was a member of the Copstitutional Convention of Kentucky and author

of sald document ney General of the State of
Kentucky. Johy Breckinrjdge/was author of the Kdntucky Resolutions of 1798

and U. S. Senptor in ./ He was a)so aprointed Wttorney General of the

sole owner, was a large landowner in Maryland.

Aftdr 1800 the iron industry in Kentucky made steady progress.

Soon there weje five furnaces in this district, ldter called the Red River

Iron District. There was bne in Esrill County, one in Wayne, one in Bath
and two in Montgomery. Thire were jalso four forges; one in Eetill, one in
Wayne, one in In the same year, or

in 1817 or 1818 one o i istrict. This furnace was

called Argillite from the black slate cliffs in which it was cut. This

This material is the property of The Filson Historical Society and carnct be reproduced without permission

uction was small.

Soon after 1818 Pactolus was built on the Little Sandy River above
Argillite in Carter County. There was also a forge in connection with this
furnace, but both were soon abandoned.

There was the Steam Furnace built in 1817 in Greenup County. Its
blast machinery was operated with steam. It was abandoned in 1860.

In 1826 the first iron furnace in Boyd County was built about two
and one-half miles southwest of Ashland by A. Paull, George Poague and others.

It was called Bellefonte.
ol
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There were at least thirteen charcoal furnaces built in Carter,
Greenup and Boyd counties between 1817 and 1834 and eighteen other charcoal
furnaces subsequent to 1834.

In 1830 there were ?yelve forges in Greenup, Estill, Edmonson and

Crittenden Countie

Red River Forge, Estill County,
these were al)/abandonefl before 1850. There weke two forges built below

Eddyville in[1840.

it permission

In| additilon to/ the Hangihg Rock egion,| furnaces were built before

1860 in Bath,\ Russell, Bullitt, Xelsbn, Muhlenbe g, Lyon, Crittenden, Trigeg,

-

Calloway and Livy Bourbon, or Slate, Furnace,

before mentioned, there were built the Caney and Clear Creek furnaces in Batk

County.

There was great activity in the iron irfdustry between the years

1825 and 1860, but this bysiness lfpsed after the Civil War. Kentucky was
seventh in the list of irdn-producing states in 1870 and eleventh in 1880.

In 1890 the s

‘teenth i of pig and rolled iron.
In 1880 there were twenty-two furnaces,| eighteen being charcoal

and four bi

’

ch—tm the latter part of the

nineteenth ceptury in the Hanging Rock Region. In the same year there were

eight rolling{mills. were in Covington, two in Newport, two in

Louisville, ohe in Aéhland in Lyon County. The first of these was

al is the property of The Filson Historical Society an.d caract be Eproduced witho

built at Covihgton in

The| Red River Iron Region was the first| region in Kentucky to be

™ This ateri

entered by th from the fact that much o
this area is drained by Red River. This region was finally construed to
include the region between the Kentucky and Licking Rivers. The name

"Red River Iron" became quite famous and was extended to the iron made in
furnaces other than those in the Red River Valley, which used Red River ores.
The counties in this region in which the iron industry was carried on were

Estill, Powell, Lee, Menifee, Bath and Montgomery. There were no furnaces

outside these bounds until the Hanging Rock Region was reached.

-4



The iron smelted, especially in the furnaces on the dividing ridge
between the Kentucky and Red River drainage basins, was of high quality and
used chiefly for the manmufacture of railroad car wheels. The liméstone
mingled with the ore furnished an adequate flux. The ore has uniform composi-

tion and the phosphorous, a veyry undesirable element in iron, is not exces-

sive. The ores ar stone ores of Greenmup and Carter

Counties. Al

1

, bging porous, is permeyble to the reducing gases o

the furnace. the diyiding ridge of the Kentu

Q

and Red Rivets.
In Zeneral, the iron mgnufqctured in tlis region was cold blast

or car (wheels. e methods of manufacture wer

Siced without permlissior

charcoal iron, v

on the whole, very similar.

The| Slate Furnace, which has been mentipned in a previous paragrap

"3

while not exaptly within the Red River Iron Regioh, has been included in this-

region because of its early existejce and the lack of any other region to

which it could be assigned. The blast machinery was driven by water power

from Slate Crfex. The process by which iron Was

vical Society ] card®t be ISpIo

elted here was very wastefg

ful, requiring three tons of ore per ton of iron fmelted out. The capacity E
of this furnate Wwas about THres o day, while running, which E
was not conti ause of the intermittent flow of water. The iron had ;g
poor reputation for strength, but was hard. %
The|Red River Furpace, tlje second oldest in the state, built in :%

1808, was sithated in! r£e bend'v mpove the mouth of Hardwick'ég
5

Creek, close fo the present site of Clay City. here 1s little present E
indication of Lthe—e L was a forge which had beegd

built two years previous to this at the same location. There was alsoc a
rolling mill operated in connection with this until 1860.  This furnace was
also operated by water power and the ore was floated down the river to the
dam. The men who first built this furnace built with black shale, which con-
tained bituminous matter. After a short period of operation, the furnace
burned to such an extent that it had to be dismantled and rebuilt of a more

gsolid material which did not support combustion.

~5-



There was built in Menifee County in 1879 Beaver Furnace, situated |
on Beaver Creek in Menifee County. There were two forges in conmection with
this furnace, used in the manufacture of bar iron. One was situated on
Beaver Creek below the furnace and the other on Licking River below the mouth

of Beaver Creek. The product of, these two forges was generally floated down

the Licking River These establishments were in

Most of thesfurngces in thif regiyn were of heavy stone constructiong

PEFINISSion

nerally built of sandstone and in

resembling t

cases where fi dstone was used as a refrac-;

1oduced without

tory or inner lini

A
A7

The Red River Furnace of the Red River Iron Manufacturing Company

|
represents the| first attempt at improved furnace donstruction in the region. t%
It is otherwise called the Fitchburg Farnace in hdnor of Frank Fitch, the é}
General Superintendent of the compat?, and Fred Fitch, its secretary. Its é%
magonry is still standing in good ofrder, except for part of it which has been%ﬁ

blasted. It ifs of fine construction dsome and imposing struc-

Historica

ture. Its bade is rectangular, forty by sixty fe¢t, and its height is ap-

é
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proximately fifty feet. It ol - ¥:)

at the boéh, qne named Chandler and the other Blackstone. Using waste

heat from the|furnace| were ¢ight lgrge bollers. Also utilizing the hot gases

from the furnfjce was p roasfing ovgn which roasted the ore, removing some of

1is the property of Thé€ilson

(=1

its undesirabje eleme rus, etc. The constructio

of this furnape alone cost one hundred thousand dpllars, and its cost com-

This rater|

thousand dollars.

plete with matf

The iron produced in this furnace was of the highest quality and
its use for car wheels was spread far and wide. One stack of this furnace
mnade as much as four hundred eighty tons of iron in one month. In one week
one hundred twenty-eight and one half tons of iron was produced in one stack
of this furnace, but this was an exceptionally good run. The average produc-
tion was about forty-five percent when using roasted ore. Much of the iron

produced at this furnace was floated down the Kentucky River on barges, after

~6-
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an overland haul of six miles from the furnace, on Millers Creek.

From a metallurgical standpoint, this furnace ylelded all that
its owners could expect, but financially it was a failure. The furnace,
which was built in 1868, continued in operation until 1874, at which time

it became highly unprofitable to operate. This was due to the diminishing

Cincinnati was seve . dollars /per ton. Howdver, iron could be pro-

duced more cheaply 1 othey places |at the time. Another

of the company spe @lves and the workmen, and on

outbuildings at the furnace. Also, the furnace was of too expensive and

permanent congtruction for the location. After the timber began to grow

scarce it was|unprofitable to try to haul in coal|and change to that type

of fuel. If the furnace Had origifally been located nearer to possible

trnasportation lines, the [furnace gould have been operated much more

profitably anf for a longer time.

Nothing stands today except the mass stope-work of the furnace that

would tell one of & past industry. All the fine housesbuilt by these

Bastern invesfors have been destro¥ed and none of the buildings that were
in the town of Fitchblurg, ekcept the lodge hall, a store and the servant

house of Mr. frank Filtch, the Supefintendent, remain standing. The town of

Fitchburg coufd once boast of a small opera-house| a hotel and a bank. Gay

and boisteroup was life in this town and much dripking and fighting went on

at times when many oi the lrish workmen gathered together.

A second important iron district in Kentucky is the Western
Kentucky or Cumberland River Region. The main counties embraced in this
district are Trigg, Lyon, Caldwell, Muhlenberg and Edmonson. At one time a
canal connecting the Kentucky and Cumberland Rivers, and the improvement of

the Kentucky River, were proposed in order to bring ores from both the Red

This r:aterial is the property of The Filson Historical Society and carnct be reproduced without permission

River and Cumberland Regions together for smeiting. The deposits lie between

the Cumberland and Tennessee Rivers.



The Cumberland Hegion has many advantages which made it a good

location for the erection of iron furnaces. It is about one hundred seventy-

five miles from Louisville and accessible to rail lines. The ore is of good

quality and especially suited to the manufacture of boiler plate. Also the

essentials of cheap iron were contained in this region. There were good

-

coking coal, cheaply mined and handl d abundent iron orés close to coal

|
or easily shipped/” pure lipestotie, cheap labor, atundant water supply and low

Iron rice of \from $12.50 to $14.50 per

freight to mark¢t.

ton, which comppred fgvorably with other regilons of |[the United States at that

time.
Trigg, Centre, Monmouth

o Bddyville which was quite

produced without permission
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and Fulton. There was a rolling mill c

extensive. The e famous and was used in g
many of the stepmboats that plied the western rivens. E
One o - ents in the history of the iron é

industry had as its scene of develo enﬁlghis Western Kentucky iron region. E?
At Badyville, in Lyon Counth, in 1852, Willlam Kelley discovered the so-caned%
Bessemer. Kelley, & nativ%g

Bessemer ProceTs two years in advance of Sir Henry
i1le Iron Works. It is

of Pittsburgh, land his brother_purchased the Eddyv

believed that at Suance Furnace Kelley did his work which gave him claim to
In 1856

his fame. He produced the fiirst o the new type of steel in 1852.

he went to Waghington D. C., to fipd that Bessemer had been granted a patent

hted a patent, however, on account of his

was gr

fact that he had been known to havé done work before Besgsemer.

only a few day

patent, the

This raterial is the property of The Filson

effort and th1

However, due fo his failure to press the matter of obtaining a

name of the process and much of the credit went to Bessemer. On account of

the dispute over the claims of the two inventors of the process, its use was

held up in the United States until 1864.
The third main iron region of Kentucky is the Hanging Rock Region.

It takes its name from a peculiar shape of rock exposure on the Ohio River,

near which is a village of the same name. Some of the early furnaces were
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located at this place and ore was landed here. The name was later applied to
all iron produced in adjacent counties of Ohio and Kentucky. It embraces the
whole or parts of Scioto, Lawrence, Gallia, Jackson, Vinton and Hocking
Counties in Chio, and Greenup, Boyd and Carter Counties in Kentucky. The
iron produced in this region was very gobd, especially for foundry purposes,

and it could also be mixed witﬁ sc

e majority of the furnaces in this

area were charcefil furn ces,/ﬁat later several™gtone coal furnaces were built.

Ho

machinery.

ver, this was

of the streams. The smaller furnaces uced about two or three tons of

iron per day ixteen tons per day. Most

of them were puilt resembling a truncated pyramid|and situated close to the
base of a hil

All of these furpaces ar4 constructed on the same pattern except

Hunnewell and Iron Hills. Hnnneweﬂl was built on the same design, but much

Historical Society and caract be reproduced without permission

larger. Iron|Hills Furnace was more modern, beinf built with an iron shell

stack, set on|four iron pillars. It had a fire bfick hearth and lining. Th

top was closed, with bell and hopper charging apparatus. It was started in

the winter of |1873-74] but 1lled to cease operation in the spring,

he property of The f?ilson

after making dnly ning hundfed sixfy-two tons of ironm.

Latlr, stong coal |[was used in the area, due to the diminlsghing

supply of timier. This section of the country wis blessed with a good suppl

&

This fiterial is t

of this coal.| Coal was used by the Sﬁar, Willard] Bellefonte and Ashland

furnaces. Hunnewell Furnace also used stone coalrfor a very short time, but
its machinery was not adapted to the use of stone coal. The first attempt to
use stone coal was at Martinsville, Ohio, in 1866. Then the Bellefonte
Furnace at Ironmton, Ohio, in 1867, Ashland Purnace at Ashland in 1869, and
Norton Iron Works at Ashland in 1873 used this type of coal.

The Norton‘and the Ashland furnaces were the most complete furnaces

at that time. The Ashland Furnace had an iron shell stack sixty feet high,

-



73&;

resting on four masonry pillars. This furnasce produced omly will iron. Ite |

output was thirty-seven to forty tons daily. Beside the native ore used,

much Iron Mountain ore from Missouri was used. Also mill cinder was used in

this furnace.

The furnace used number seven coal alone, after starting the

blast with charcoal.

Ashland PFurnace was Vvery successfully managed. On June 20, 1874 a

blast was finish

it made forty /thousand

two seventy-four
which was far| betterst other that day.

an average o

The

but did not begin operation until 1874. It was the most extensive at that

had }4Asted three yead™g and four months, during which

ve/hundred twenty-seven tons of irom. It required

duced without permission

5" furnace was constructed in 1873

pro

time. It had|an iron shell resting on iron pillafs. There were five hot

blast ovens

d twelve boilers, which furnished sfeam for both the mills and

the furnace.

furnaces, which were used |n makin% plate for nail machines. There were

In the rollihg mill were sixteen puddling and two reheating

eighty nail michines producing four thousand kegs|per week.

The

lron industry in Kentucky today 1s ¢onfined chiefly to Newport

and Ashland.

About the first establighment in the vicinity of Newport was

f The Filson Historical Society an caract be r

built in 1845

Coal and Iron

mill now in Kgntucky |

In 1925 1t prg

iron every mor

by the

Company

duced an average of eleven thousand|finished sheets of steel an

th, and its annual output was about|$32,000,000.

Lickin Works Company and, under the name of Lickin

propefty o

was in operdtion as late ag 1911. The largest rolling

al is the

s the |Newport] Rolling Mill Compeny, organized in 1890.

af¥ri

This r

The Ashland Furnace, built in 1869, is the present Number One

American Rolling Mill Company Blast Furnace. In 1888 was constructed the

present Number Two Blast Furnace. Both are in operation and producing about

four hundred tons of iron per day.

In 1916 the Ashland Iron and Mining Company,

now the American Rolling Mill Company property, started an extensive construc-

tion program which has developed six open hearth furnaces, a thirty-six inch
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